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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, *
*

Plaintiff, *

*

V. * Civil Action No. 15ev-13367ADB

*

MONICA TOTH, *
*

Defendant *

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
DENYING MOTION TO DISMISS

BURROUGHS, D.J.

The United States of Ameridied this casdo collect a civil penalty assessed against
DefendanMonica Toth for her alleged failure to timely report her financial intereshi/pa
her signatory or authority over, a foreign bank account for the 208idzal yearCurrently
before the Court is Toth’s motion to dismiss [ECF No. 49]. For the reasons explaioed b
Toth’s motion to dismiss is denied

l. BACKGROUND

At the motion to dismiss stage, the Court accepts as true alpleatiied facts, analyze

those facts in the light most hospitable topteentiff’s theory, and drawall reasonable

inferences from thosiacts in favor of the lpintiff. United States ex rel. Hutcheson v.

Blackstone Med., Inc., 647 F.3d 377, 383 (1st Cir. 2011). The follotantg are taken from the
complaint. [ECF No. 1].

In 1999,abank account was opened in Toth’s nah&BS AG in ZurichSwitzerland
(the “Account). The Account has remained open continuously since 1999. At all times since the

Account was opened, Tottad a financial interest in the Account dredd the authontto
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control the disposition of the funds in the Account.

This case concerns Toth’s tax liability related to the Account for the y@ar 20 all
times during the 2007 calendar year, Toth was a Uniise<Scitizerand residentlToth
prepared her own federal income tax return for the year 2007, which she signed undgopenalt
perjury and filedn a timely mannerToth failed to report any income or loss from the Account,
or otherwise disclose the existence of the Aotom her 200 return Toth alsofailed to file a
Financial Bank Account Reports forftFBAR”) prior to June 30, 2008, as required by 31
U.S.C. § 5314 and 31 C.F.R. § 1010.350.

The FBAR is required when a United States citizen has a financial interest in, or
signatory or other authority over, any foreign financial accounts that indilyicradollectively
have a maximum value greater than $10,000 during the calendar year. 31 U.S.G.3.5314
C.F.R. § 1010.350rhe Governmentlleges that the Account’s balance exceefiEa000 and
that Toth had a financial interest in, and/or signatory or other authority beekctountat all
times durirg the2007 calendar year.

Sometime after June 2008, the IRS initiated an audit as to Toth’s tax liaml29®7,
during which time the IRS investigated matters relating to the AccAardf June 30, 2008, the
Account’s balance was at least $4,347,407. On September 19, 2013, the Treasury Department
assessed a civil penalty (the “FBAR Penalggpinst Bth in the amount of $2,173,703, due to
Toth’s willful failure to disclose the Account to the IR$otice of the assessment of the FBAR
Penalty and a demand for payment was sent to Toth on or about September 19, 20%& Toth
neglected, refused, or failed to pay the FBAR Penalty.

On September 16, 2015, tbaited Statesitiated this action against Toth. [ECF No. 1].

On October 13, 2016, Toth filed a motion to dismiss [ECF No. 49] and memorandum in support



[ECF No. 50]argung that the instant action should be dismissed pursuant to Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(2), (4), (5), and (6). The Government filed oppositions on October 27,
2016 [ECF No. 51] and December 14, 2016 [ECF No. 55].
. LEGAL STANDARDS AND DISCUSSION
a. Toth’s motion to dismiss pursuant to Ruls 12(b)(4)and (5)

Tothfirst movesto dismissthis actionfor insufficientanddefectiveserviceof process
pursuanto FederalRule ofCivil Procedure 12(b)(4nd(5). [ECF No. 49]. Sheargueghatthe
Governmentailed to complywith thetime limitations of Rule4(m).[ECF No. 50at { 20].“The
plaintiff is responsibldéor havingthe summonsndcomplaintserved’upon thedefendantvithin
“120 daysafterthecomplaintis filed” unlesgshistime periodis extendedy the Courfollowing
a showingof goodcauseFed.R. Civ. P.4(c)(1),(m).! The complaintwasfiled on September
16, 2015JECF No. 1]. OnFebruaryl, 2016, the Governmefiked its proof ofservice
indicatingthata professiongbrocesservernadeffectedserviceuponToth pursuanto
MassachusettRule ofCivil Procedurel(d)(1)onJanuaryll, 2016]ECF No. 4 at 3]. As Toth
wasservedwithin “120 daysafterthe complaintjwas]filed,” the Govermentcompliedwith the

requirement®f FederalRule ofCivil proceduret(m).

L All citations to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure refer to the Rules astistgd on
September 16, 2015, the date on which the instant action was commiEstbeaisserts that this
case should be dismissed for insufficiantl defective servicef process because the

Government failed to effect service of the summons and complaint within 90 days. fEG6 N

at 1 20]. Toth refers to the current version of Rule 4(m). On April 29, 2015, the Supreme Court
amended the Federal Rules of Civil Procedurcluding Rule 4(m)SeeOrder of the Supreme
Court of the United States, Apr. 29, 2015, 305 F.R.D. 457 (amending the time for service under
Rule 4(m) from 120 days to 90 days). The Supreme Court ordered that the amendments “shall
take effect odDecember 1, 2015, and shall govern all proceedings in eisdghereafter
commenced and, insofar as just and practicable, all proceedings then gelddetgd60

(emphasis added)Therefore, the current version of Rule 4(m) does not apply in thas @ad

the United States was entitled to a period of 120 days to complete service.
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Toth alsoargueghatservicewasinsufficientbecausehe Governmertailed to have her
personallyservedwith the summonandcomplaint. ECF No. 50 { 19].*Unlessfederallaw
providesotherwise anindividual . . .maybeservedn ajudicial district of theUnited States
by . . .following statelaw for servinga summong anactionbroughtin courts ofgeneral
jurisdictionin thestatewherethedistrict courtis locatedor whereserviceis made. . . .” Fed.R.
Civ. P.4(e)(1).MassachusettRule ofCivil Procedurel(d)(1)allowsfor serviceto bemade‘by
delivering acopyof the summonandof thecomplaint. . .by leavingcopiesthereofat [the
plaintiff's] lastandusualplaceof abode."Mass.R. Civ. P.4(d)(1).Here,acopyof the summons
andcomplaintwereleft at Toth’slastandusualplaceof abode, 761allet Hill Road, Weston,
Massachusetts[ECF No. 4 at 3]. Thus becausghe Government comjgd with Massachusetts
statelaw in servingToth, servicewasnotdefective

b. Toth’s motion to dismisspursuant to Rule 12(b)(2)

Next, Toth movesto dismissthis actionfor lack of personajurisdiction pursuanto
FederalRule ofCivil Procedurd 2(b)(2)“becausehe [Governmentiailed to reasonablyotify
[her].” [ECF No. 49].“A district courtfacedwith amotionto dismissunder Rule 12(b)(2nay
chooseamongseveralmethoddor determiningwhethertheplaintiff hasmetits burden”to prove
thatthe Court haspersonajurisdiction over the defendant: “th@rima facie’ standardthe

‘preponderance-of-thevidence’standardor the ‘likelihood standard.”Hilsinger Co. v.FBW

Invs., 109F. Supp. 3d 409, 41@. Mass.2015)(citing Daynardv. Ness Motley, Loadhold,

Richardson & Poole, P.A., 290 F.3d 42, 50-51, 51(1s&Cir. 2002)).“When adistrict court

considers anotionto dismissfor lack of personajurisdictionwithoutfirst holdingan

2 Toth’s own filings in this Court demonstrate that the 76 Hallet Hill Road address‘laste
and usual place of abod&#&e, e.g, [ECF Nos. 49 at 2, 50 at 7].



evidentiaryhearing,the prima facie standardyovernsts determination.® Id. (citing United

Statesv. SwissAm. Bank 274 F.3d 610, 61@L.stCir. 2001)).“In conducting grima facie

analysisthe couris requiredto takespecificfactsaffirmatively allegedby theplaintiff as
true. . ., construing thenm thelight most favorabléo theplaintiff . . . .”1d. (citing

TicketmasteiN.Y., Inc. v. Alioto, 26 F.3d 201, 20@8LstCir. 1994)). “Although the coumill

construe théactsin thelight most favorableéo theplaintiff in amotionto dismiss,theplaintiff
still hasthe burden of demonstratiegchjurisdictionalrequirement.’ld.
“The prima facie showing ofpersonajurisdiction must bebasedon evidenceof specific

factssetforth in therecord.”Boit v. GarTecProds.Inc., 967 F.2d 671, 678.stCir. 1992)

(citing Kowalski v. Doherty Wallace,Pillsbury & Murphy, 787 F.2d 7, 9 (1€ir. 1986)).“The

‘plaintiff mustgo beyond thepleadingsandmakeaffirmative proof.” Id. (quoting_Chlebda v.

H.E. Fortna &Bro., Inc., 609 F.2d 1022, 1024.stCir. 1979)). Although someircuits “hold

thatallegationan a complaint, unsupportday anyevidencean therecordbeforethe court,are
sufficientto makea prima facie showingof personajurisdictionsolongasthedefendantioes
not presentevidenceto contradct theallegations|,]. . .[iJt haslongbeentherule of this
circuit . . .thatplaintiffs maynotrely on unsupportedllegationsn their pleadinggo makea
prima facie showingof personajurisdiction.” Id. (internalcitations omitted).

“[J]urisdiction basedonphysicalpresencaloneconstituteslueprocesecausdt is one
of the continuingraditionsof ourlegal systenthatdefine the due procestandardf

‘traditional notions offair play andsubstantiajustice.” Burnham v. Supect. of Cal., Cty. of

Marin, 495U.S.604, 619 (1990Here,the GovernmerdargueghatToth resideswithin the

3 The heightened standards of “preponderasfeae-evidence” or “likelihood” govern “[ijn
cases that feature conflicting versions of the fa¢idsinger Co, 109 F. Supp. 3d at 41Rere,
the facts related to personal jurisdiction have not been contradicted by Toth.
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jurisdiction of this Court.[ECF No. 1 at 1 2]. The Government’s proof aderviceof process upon
Tothindicateshatshewasservedat 76 Hallet Hill Road, Westonylassachusett$ECF No. 4 at
3]. Toth herselfconfirmsthattheprocesservereft “the summons oiher] door.”[ECF No. 50
at{ 19]. Additionally,all of Toth’spleadingdiled in the instanfction,including the pending
motionto dismiss,identify theHallet Hill RoadaddressasherprimaryaddressSee[ECF Nos.
49 at 2, 50at 7]. Thus,the Governmenhasgone beyondhe pleadingsandmadeaffirmative
proofthatthis Courthaspersonajurisdiction over Toth by way of herphysicalpresencen
Massachusett®oit, 967 F.2cat 675; Burnham, 498.S.at619.
c. Toth’s motion to dismisspursuant to 12(b)(6)

Finally, Toth movesto dismissthis actionfor failure to statea claim uponwhich relief
canbegrantedpursuanto FederalRule ofCivil Procedure 12(b)(6)ECF No. 49]. To evaluate
a Rulel2(b)(6)motionto dismissfor failure to stateaclaim, the Court musaccep astrueall

well-pleadedacts,analyzethosefactsin the light most hospitabléo the paintiff’s theory,and

drawall reasonabléenferencedrom thosefactsin favor of the faintiff. United Statesexrel.
Hutcheson 647 F.3cdat 383. Althoughdetailedfactualallegationsarenot required, @leading

mustsetforth “more thanlabelsandconclusions.’Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550).S.544,

555 (2007). A'formulaic recitationof theelementsof acauseof action”is not enoughld. To
avoiddismissala complaint mussetforth “factual allegationsgitherdirector inferential,
respectingeachmaterialelemeninecessaryo sustainrecoveryunder someactionabldegal

theory.” Gagliardiv. Sullivan 513 F.3d 301, 305 (1&tr. 2008) {nternalquotationsandcitation

omitted).Further,thefactsalleged whentakentogethermust besufficientto “stateaclaimto

relief thatis plausible ontsface.” A.G. exrel. Maddox v.Elsevier,Inc., 732 F.3d 77, 8(QLst

Cir. 2013) (quotingfrwomby, 550U.S.at570).



The First Circuit has noted that “[t]he plausibility standard invites ast@p pavane.ld.
“At the first step, the court ‘must separate the complaint’s factual allegatibinsh(must be
accepted as true) from its conclusory legal allegations (which need neditedy.” 1d.

(quotingMoralesCruz v. Univ. of P.R., 676 F.3d 220, 224 (1st Cir. 2012)). “At the second step,

the court must determine whether the remaining factual content allowsoaabksinference
that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged (internal quotations and citation
omitted). “The make-obreak standard. . is that the combined allegations, taken as true, must

state a plausible, not a merely conceivable, case for refiepllveda-Villarini v. Dep’t of Educ.

of P.R., 628 F.3d 25, 29 (1st Cir. 2010). “Although evaluating the plausibility of a legnal cla
requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and comma) gensourt may
not disregard properly pled factual allegations, even if it strikes a sadgg jhat actual proof of

those facts is improbable.” Ocaditernandez v. FortunBurset 640 F.3d 1, 12 (1st Cir. 2011)

(internal quoations and citations omitted).
Here, theGovernment alleges that Toth has violated 31 U.S.C. § 5314 and 31
C.F.R. §1010.350. 31 U.S.C. § 5314 provides:

[T]he Secretary of the Treasury shall requinesident or citizen of the United
States or a person in, and doing business in, the United States, to keep records, file
reports, or keep records and file reports, when the resident, citizen, or person makes
a transaction or maintains a relation for angspae with a foreign financial agency.

31 C.F.R. § 1010.350 provides:

Each United States person having a financial interest in, or signature or othe
authority over, a bank, securities, or other financial account in a foreign country
shall report such refi@nship to the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue for each
year in which such relationship exists and shall provide such information as shall
be specified in a reporting form prescribed under 31 U.S.C. [8] 5314 to be filed by
such persons. The form prescribed under section 5314 is the Report of Foreign
Bank and Financial Accounts (FB90-22.1), or any successor form.

A “United States person” includes both a citizen of the United States andentesfithe



United States. 31 C.F.R. § 1010.350(b)(2)-The types of reportable accounts under the
regulation include a bank account, securities aotar other financial accoufitd.
8 1010.350(c). “A foreign country includes all geographical areas located outside oiitidnd U
States . . . .1d. § 1010.350(d) A United States person has a financial interest in each bank,
securities or other financial account in a foreign country for wisicd] is the owner of record or
has legal title.’1d. 8 1010.350(e)(1)'Signature or other authority mearmetauthority of an
individual . . . to control the disposition of money, funds or other assets held in a financial
account by direct communication . . . to the person with whom the financial account is
maintained.”ld. 8 1010.350(f)(1).

Here, theGovernmenhas alleged sufficient facts to “allow[] a reasonable inference that

[Toth] is liable for the misconduct allegéd.G. ex rel. Maddox, 732 F.3d at 8lhe

Governmenhas asserted that during @07 calendar yeathe year in whiclt allegesthat

Toth violated the reporting statute, Toth was lathitizen and resident of the United States.

[ECF No. 1 1 18]TheGovernmenfurther alleges thahe Account was a “foreign bank

account” located in Switzerlandl. at -2, Y 4, that the Account was held in Toth’s name€f id.

4, and that Toth “held the authority . . . to control the disposition of the funds in the Account by
direct communication . .to UBS AG,” id. 6. TheGovernmentlso alleges that Toth failed to
report “any income or loss from the Account, or otherwise disclose . . . the existéhee of

Account” onher selfprepared 2007 federal income tax return filed with the Internal Revenue

4“The term‘other financial accouhimeans (i) An account with a person that is in the business
of accepting deposits as a financial agency; (ii) An account that is an insaraaroguity policy
with a cash value; (iii) An account with anson that acts as a broker or dealer for futures or
options transactions in any commodity on or subject to the rules of a commodity exahange
association; or (iv) An account with . . . [a] mutual fund or similar pooled fund which issues
shares availabl® the general public that have a regular net asset value determination and
regular redemptions . . ..” 31 C.F.R. 8 1010.350(c)(3).
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Service id. 11 13-16 and that Toth failed to file the FBAR by the deadline to fdef 17 Thus,
the Governmenhasset forth “factual allegations, either direct or inferential, respecting each
material element necessary to sustain recovery U8ddd.S.C. § 5314 and 31

C.F.R. 8 1010.35@5agliardi 513 F.3d at 305 (internal quotations and citation omitted).

Toth also arguethat the fine imposed by the Government violates the Excessive Fines
Clause of the Eighth Amendment.ife Secretary of the Treasury may impose a civil money
penalty on any person who violates, or causes any violation of, any provision of £&3i4.”

31 U.S.C. § 5321(5)(A). The penalty may not exceed $10,000 unless the violation is willful.

Id. 8 5321(5)(B)4C). Whether Toth, in fact, violated § 5314, and, if so, whether that violation

waswillful is a question of fact that the Court cannot resolve at this stage. Accorthegly,

Court does not address whether the fine to be imposed, if any, violates the Eighth Antendme
1. CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, Toth&tion to dismiss I®ENIED.®
SO ORDERED.

May 2, 2017 /sl Allison D. Burroughs

ALLISON D. BURROUGHS
U.S.DISTRICT JUDGE

® Toth has included multiple items of correspondeasexhibits to her motion to dismiSee
[ECF No. 50 at 8—10Becauselte Court did not considéinese materials in deciding the
pending motion to dismiss, the submission of these materials did not convert the motion to
dismiss into a motion for summary judgme®eeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(d) (“If, on a motion under
Rule 12(b)(6) or 12(c), matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excthded b
court, the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56.”)
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